FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
7/14/2022 1:08 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/14/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Court of Appeals No. 55920-0-II

101086-9

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JON MORRONE,

Petitioner,

v.

NORTHWEST MOTORSPORT, INC., a Washington corporation; NORTHWEST MOTORSPORT, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Respondents,

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

GORDON THOMAS HONEYWELL Stephanie Bloomfield, WSBA 24251 sbloomfield@gth-law.com 1201 Pacific Avenue, Suite 2100 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 620-6500

Attorneys for Petitioner Jon Morrone

###

### I. INTRODUCTION

It has been 54 years since this Court decided *White v*. *Holm*,<sup>1</sup> which carefully laid out the standards for reviewing defaults. Since then, these standards have grown unworkable, unclear, and inconsistent within the lower courts.

There is no clearer demonstration of the dysfunction foisted upon trial courts than to read this opinion and an opinion issued by the *same* court on the *same* day regarding the *same* issue: *Adam Laneer Construction v. Foster Brothers, Inc.*, 2022 WL 1467658 at \*1-2 (May 10, 2022).<sup>2</sup> These cases are incompatible, demonstrating there is no real standard of review in default proceedings any longer – and that is just the beginning of the problems created by Division II with the underlying opinion. The time has come for this Court to clarify the scope and limitations of re-opening a default judgment.

<sup>1</sup> 73 Wn.2d 348, 351, 438 P.2d 581 (1968).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Copy at Appendix A-22-29.

The need for clarity could not be more consequential. Scores of cases acknowledge the discretion afforded to trial courts to consider and weigh evidence. Here, the trial court weighed a tardy party's vague justification against the weakness of its claimed defenses and appropriately found the judgment should stand. There was ample support for this outcome in the record, which included not a single affidavit from the Defendants to explain why they failed to timely appear.<sup>3</sup> The trial court straightforwardly applied the *White* factors and the Civil Rules allowing the judgment to stand.

But Division II preferred a different result, and thus rebalanced and changed the *White* factors. In so doing, it made three errors that either render future default proceedings meaningless, or hasten the total unraveling of *White*:

1. It charted new territory by accepting an unexplained "miscommunication" from counsel as an excuse, and ignored the affidavit requirement of CR 60(e)(1) by accepting unsworn oral assertions

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Counsel simply cited a "miscommunication at [her] office." Op. at 9 (CP 199).

- during a subsequent hearing to supplement her insufficient declaration.
- 2. It utilized a new "strong prima facie defense" standard when considering NWMS' purported defenses, in derogation of this Court's established "prima facie" or "strong or virtually conclusive" standards.
- 3. It gutted the longstanding principle that trial courts may weigh credibility, and then created a *new* standard that trial courts should presume that the defaulted party intended to appear since "nothing in the record shows that NWMS willfully failed to appear." Op. at 19.

On these flawed bases, the trial court's decision was reversed, and the judgments vacated.

This body of law needs to be settled by this Court. Does a trial court abuse its discretion by simply complying with CR 60's affidavit requirements—rather than crediting verbal assertions at argument? What categories of defenses should apply: "prima facie" and "strong or virtually conclusive" as decided by this Court, or the undefined "strong prima facie" standard now being invoked within the lower courts? Is a defaulted defendant allowed a free pass by saying *nothing* as to what it did and when?

Even if an appellate panel would have reached a different conclusion, at what point can it fairly find that "no reasonable judge would have reached the same conclusion" as the trial court and an abuse of discretion?

In addition, and of perhaps greater importance, central to Division II's ruling was NWMS's "strong prima facie defense" to Morrone's Family Leave Act ("FLA") claim, predicated on Division II's belief that there was no savings provision permitting Morrone to assert a FLA claim in the first place. But this ignores RCW 50A.05.125 which does precisely that. Division II committed legal error when it disregarded the express direction of the Legislature and reversed the trial court which had *correctly* applied the law.

This error impacts not only Morrone. As the only opinion to touch upon this issue, Division II created a total bar for any employee seeking to properly assert a FLA claim. At a minimum,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Sofie v. Fibreboard Corp., 112 Wn.2d 667, 771 P.2d 711 (1989).

this Court should reaffirm the plain language of the statute and vacate Division II's unwarranted changes and misinterpretation of the *White* framework.

#### II. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER

Petitioner Jon Morrone ("Morrone"), Plaintiff and Respondent in the underlying Appeal, seeks review of the decision terminating review described below.

#### III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals, Division II, filed its Unpublished Opinion on May 10, 2022 ("the Opinion"). The Opinion is provided at Appendix A-1 to A-21. Morrone's motion to publish was denied on June 15, 2022.

#### IV. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Where a statue expressly allows employees to assert claims under Washington's former FLA, did the Court of Appeals err in concluding plaintiffs like Morrone lack standing?
- 2. In light of the minimal and only prima facie defenses to some of Morrone's claims and NWMS's "weak

reasons" for failing to appear, did the Court of Appeals improperly disregard the trial court's discretion and misapply the *White* factors?

3. Did the Court of Appeals inappropriately substitute its own judgment in a manner inconsistent with published precedent of this Court and the Courts of Appeals—including another opinion by Division II *that same day*—to usurp the discretion afforded to the trial court, who declined to vacate the default?

#### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Opinion sets forth the facts and procedural history. Morrone, a WSBA member, was constructively discharged from his employment as general counsel for NWMS after seeking medical leave to deal with the traumatic loss of his stillborn daughter. Op. at 4-5. He returned to work early, without taking the leave recommended by his healthcare provider, because of the actions of NWMS' president, Don Fleming. *Id.* After continued hostility, retaliation and interference with Morrone's

ability to staff the legal department, Morrone was unable to continue working in this environment. Op. at 5.

Following his constructive discharge, Morrone sought a bonus owed under his NWMS contract based on a successful trial result that was later affirmed on appeal. Op. at 6-7. NWMS refused to pay. *Id*.

Morrone ultimately filed this lawsuit asserting six claims:

(1) disability discrimination under RCW 49.60.030;

(2) retaliation under RCW 49.60.210; (3) wrongful termination (constructive discharge) in violation of public policy; (4) breach of employment contract; (5) wage withholding under RCW 49.52.050 and RCW 49.48.030; and (6) actions for violations of RCW 49.78.330, Washington's FLA then in effect. Op. at 7.

Morrone properly served NWMS, who did not timely respond. Op. at 7-8. The trial court then entered a default Order on March 4, 2021. *Id*.

The trial court held a hearing on March 8, 2021, and entered judgment for the contract and wage claims. Op at 8. Because the remaining claims involved general damages, the court scheduled a second hearing for March 9, 2021, where it took testimony and then entered a supplemental judgment. *Id*.

After the judgments were entered, counsel for NWMS appeared and moved to vacate a few days later. Op. at 9. The *only* evidence to explain NWMS's failure to appear was one sentence in a declaration by its attorney obliquely stating that it was "due to a miscommunication" in her office. *Id*.

NWMS submitted only a declaration from Fleming, who generally denied that he had discriminated or retaliated against Morrone, but offered no testimony to dispute the meaning of Morrone's employment contract terms or his statements to Morrone explaining its bonus provision. Worse, Fleming said

nothing to explain what NWMS had done following proper service.<sup>5</sup>

At oral argument, NWMS's counsel made verbal, unsworn and unsubstantiated statements about waiting to see if an insurer would appoint counsel in an effort to bolster the excusable neglect element; nothing was offered by NWMS to explain its actions. Op. at 10 (VRP 56). Morrone objected to the unpled oral assertions, and Judge Schwartz rightfully agreed given CR 60(e)(1)'s clear requirement—as well as Civil Rules requiring evidence to be contained in affidavits. VRP 68, 74 ("those facts do not appear in any of the pleadings...The only thing that's set forth is that there was a miscommunication in my office.")

\_\_\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> NWMS claims Morrone obtained a "hurried" default. One can hardly claim a default is "hurried" when well-known, longstanding timelines set forth in the Civil Rules and stated in the Summons were followed. If those timelines are problematic, the "fix" is to re-write the Rules, not to ignore *White's* framework and trial court discretion.

After properly weighing credibility and evaluating the evidence and equities, the trial court denied the motion to vacate, reasoning that:

- 1. Defendants did not provide substantial evidence supporting any defense;
- 2. The evidence submitted does not support excusable neglect, inadvertence or mistake following the proper service of the Summons and Complaint on Defendants on February 11, 2021;
- 3. The materials submitted by Defendants do not provide any facts to suggest anything more than a breakdown in office procedures;
- 4. On balance the equities do not support vacating the default judgment.

Op. at 11 (CP 272).

NWMS appealed, and Division II performed what amounted to a *de novo* review. It found minimal "prima facie" defenses to "some" of Morrone's claims; made no finding whatsoever as to any defense to Morrone's constructive discharge in violation of public policy claim; *but* it found a "strong prima facie defense" only to Morrone's FLA claim and reversed. Op. at 11-12. The sole premise of this "strong prima

facie" defense was purportedly that Morrone "lacked standing" to bring the FLA claim after the statute was repealed and replaced with new legislation. Op. at 16-17.

This "strong prima facie" standard was neither a "prima facie" nor a "strong or virtually conclusive" defense standard as contemplated by *White*. Instead, and for the first time, Division II imported an entirely new standard used occasionally in Divisions I and III; this standard is not found in any opinion from this Court. Though this term of art reverberated throughout the opinion, and the court afforded NWMS the benefits normally confined to defendants who establish a "strong or virtually conclusive defense," the panel did not elaborate on how it was different from *White's* "strong or virtually conclusive" defense standard, nor the impact on its overall *White* analysis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See Op. at 12, 13, 18, 19, 20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> As noted *infra*, a handful of opinions from the Courts of Appeal use this "strong prima facie defense" verbiage—and do so inconsistently.

Setting aside this new addition to the *White* balancing test—which future courts will have to struggle with—it was clear error, too. As a matter of law, there was *no* defense at all because the Legislature expressly preserved Morrone's ability to bring a claim under the repealed FLA statute. RCW 50A.05.125.

Morrone timely moved for publication, noting the broad import and implications of such a holding. Division II declined to publish and Morrone now seeks discretionary review.

### VI. ARGUMENT WHY THE COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW

Under RAP 13.4(b), a petition for review should be accepted where the Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with a decision of this Court, a published decision of the Court of appeals, a significant constitutional issue is implicated, or the case involves an issue of substantial public interest. Morrone's Petition for Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) (conflicts with a decision of this Court), RAP 13.4(b)(2) (conflicts with published decisions of the Courts of Appeals) and RAP 13.4(b)(4) (issues of substantial public importance).

# A. Division II's Conclusion that Morrone Cannot Bring a Family Leave Act Claim Is Obvious Error and Ignores RCW 50A.05.125.

The first ground for review is likely the easiest, and was obvious error. Division II emphasized that, in December 2017, the Legislature repealed the FLA (Former Chapter RCW 49.78) effective December 31, 2019. RCW 49.78.300 made it unlawful to interfere with an employee's attempt to take family leave or to retaliate against anyone who opposed such interference.<sup>8</sup>

Division II found that Morrone lacked standing to bring a FLA claim in 2021 on account of the 2019 repeal. It reached this finding by (erroneously) concluding there was no savings clause following the repeal. Op. at 18. Thus, Division II found that Morrone lacked standing—which it found was a "strong prima facie defense" to Morrone's FLA claims under RCW 49.78.330.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The underlying interference and retaliation occurred in 2019 before the repeal date.

In doing so, Division II overlooked the applicable statutory provision which *expressly* preserves this cause of action:

The provisions of chapter 49.78 RCW as they existed prior to January 1, 2020, apply to employee and employer conduct, acts, or omissions occurring on or before December 31, 2019, including but not limited to provisions enforcement set forth RCW 49.78.330 as they existed prior to January 1, 2020. Accordingly, a cause of action for conduct, acts, or omissions occurring on or before December 31, 2019, under chapter 49.78 RCW remains available within its applicable statute of limitations. As an exercise of the state's police powers and for remedial purposes, this subsection applies retroactively to claims based on conduct, acts, or omissions that occurred on or before December 31, 2019.

RCW 50A.05.125 (emphasis added). *See* Appendix A-30. The holding that Morrone lacked standing—giving rise to NWMS' claimed "strong prima facie defense"—was wrong.

Worse, there are real consequences for this error. "Washington has a long and proud history of being a pioneer in the protection of employee rights." *Hill v. Xerox Bus. Servs.*, *LLC*, 191 Wn.2d 751, 760, 426 P.3d 703 (2018) (internal

quotations omitted). But, in its haste to re-balance the trial court's *White* analysis, Division II ignored this policy and eliminated a cause of action for an *entire* class of people in need of protection—and did so despite direct Legislative decree. This was the basis for reversal and is not dicta. <sup>9</sup>

Here, the erroneous FLA holding both related to the issue and drove the analysis. Regardless of publication, it can and will be cited by current and future litigants<sup>10</sup>—particularly by employers who violate their employees' medical leave rights in this uniquely precarious time. This, alone, constitutes more than sufficient ground to accept review.

# B. Division II's Use of a "Strong Prima Facie Defense" Factor Directly Contradicts White.

Through White and its progeny, courts are instructed to

15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Op. at 11-12 ("we hold that NWMS presented a strong prima facie defense to Morrone's Family Leave Act claim. Accordingly, we hold that the trial court abused its discretion"); Op. at 13 ("when a defendant demonstrates strong or "virtually conclusive" defenses, we generally set aside default judgment regardless of why the defendant failed to timely appear").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> GR 14.1(a).

recognize two standards when considering a defaulted party's defenses to the plaintiff's claims: (1) "prima facie defenses," or (2) "strong or virtually conclusive" defenses. *See, e.g., White,* 73 Wn.2d at 352-53; *see also VanderStoep v. Guthrie,* 200 Wn. App. 507, 517-18, 402 P.3d 883 (2017); *Akhavuz v. Moody,* 178 Wn. App. 526, 533, 315 P.3d 572 (2013) . The distinction between the two standards is significant. If only prima facie defenses exist, then the reasons for the defendant's failure to appear are "scrutinized with greater care." *White,* 73 Wn.2d at 352-53. This is exactly what the trial court did here.

But Division II ignored *White's* two standards for evaluating defenses and, instead, imported a new and different standard used occasionally—and inconsistently—in Divisions I and II: a "strong prima facie" standard.<sup>11</sup> This new amalgamation

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> This terminology has been used sporadically in published and unpublished decisions within Divisions I and III *See, e.g., Johnson v Cash Store*, 116 Wn. App. 833, 68 P.3d 1099 (2003) ("it failed to present a *strong prima facie defense* to Ms. Johnson's claims); *State v. ANW Seed*, 44 Wn. App. 604, 609-10, 722 P.2d 815 (Div. 3 1986) ("These affidavits . . .

conflates the "strong or virtually conclusive defense" with the "prima facie defense" factor, and is problematic for three obvious reasons.

First, none of the cases which use this new hybrid standard ever explain the difference between their use of "strong prima facie defense" and the long-recognized *White* standard of a "prima facie" or a "strong or virtually conclusive" defense. Does a trial court use one standard? Two? All three?

Second, Division II failed to apply this new standard evenly. Indeed, it relied on *White's* basic "prima facie" defense standard for all claims *except* the FLA claim. Op. at 15-16. Worse, Division II did not address when to use one standard over

demonstrate the presence of a strong prima facie defense");

MacIntosh v. Lupastean, 122 Wn. App. 1045 (Div. 1 Mar. 1, 2004) ("Lupastean has not shown a strong prima facie defense, nor excusable neglect"); Kreibich v Wallace, 115 Wn. App. 1018 (Div. 1 Jan. 27, 2003) ("Upon his showing of a strong prima facie defense and excusable neglect").

the other. <sup>12</sup> Are trial courts to decide on a whim? How will an appellate court know if the trial court used the wrong standard without any guidance?

Third, this "strong prima facie defense" standard has *never* been recognized by this Court. Not only are the lower courts creating new law in contravention of *White*, but they are doing so without any guidance from this Court. This likely explains why virtually all of the default opinions adhere strictly to the two approved *White* standards, while outliers are experimenting with this hybrid standard. Trial courts and lawyers must have some clarity of which test to use and when to use it.

### C. Division II Ignored CR 60's Affidavit Requirement and Set an Untenable Precedent.

Compounding its initial errors, Division II *then* ignored CR 60's affidavit requirement in finding excusable neglect when NWMS provided *no* evidence whatsoever on why it failed to

18

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> NWMS did not advocate for this erroneous standard when it sought to vacate at the trial court or on appeal. Instead, Division II imported this standard on its own accord.

timely appear; there was no evidence explaining what NWMS did upon service of the lawsuit, when it hired a lawyer, or anything else on which the trial court could base a finding that its neglect was *excusable*. This creates two catastrophic problems for trial courts and practitioners going forward.

First, CR 60 clearly outlines the evidentiary standard for setting aside relief: the evidence must be contained in an affidavit. *See* CR 60(e)(1). This comports with longstanding precedent which requires evidence to be competently presented to the trial court for consideration; argument and opinion of counsel is not evidence.

While the trial court properly rejected counsel's unpled, oral assertions during argument, Division II embraced them and quoted them verbatim. Op. at 10. Is a trial court now to ignore CR 60's affidavit requirement and allow a lawyer to swoop in with all sorts of verbal "testimony" when the proceeding appears to be slipping away from them?

Second, the Opinion recognized that counsel's statement of a "miscommunication" in her office was a "weak reason," at best. Op. at 20. According to *White*, the analysis should have ended there; when the defenses do not rise to the level of "strong" or "virtually conclusive" under *White*, "the plausibility and excusability of the defaulted defendants' reason for failing to initially and timely appear in the action deserve grave, if not dispositive, consideration." *White*, 73 Wn.2d at 353-54.

White and the underlying Opinion stand in stark contrast. Unlike the defendant in White, who provided affidavits explaining how he promptly notified his insurance agent, was assured counsel was being appointed, relied in good faith upon those assurances, and diligently complied with requests for information from insurance representatives (id. at 354), there is no evidence in the record from NWMS, who said nothing.

Division II, in substituting its own decision for the trial court's discretion, created a new standard by which a defendant will never need to go on the record to describe *its* actions giving

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