# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/15/2022 4:15 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 101086-9

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# JON MORRONE,

Respondent,

v.

NORTHWEST MOTORSPORT, INC., a Washington nonprofit corporation; NORTHWEST MOTORSPORT, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Appellants.

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Philip A. Talmadge, WSBA #6973 Aaron P. Orheim, WSBA #47670 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

Attorneys for Appellants

#

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

Laneer was filed in the first few months of COVID-19 which made finding a lawyer more difficult. And both presented prima facie defenses supported by declarations from company officers. The Court explained how vacating default was consistent with the policy that "default judgments generally are disfavored because courts prefer to resolve cases on their merits." (quotation omitted).

The only relevant difference between the cases is that the trial court in *Adam Laneer* vacated the default judgment, and that decision was affirmed on appeal. Here, too, the trial court should have granted NW Motorsport's CR 60(b)(1) motion, according to settled precedent. As discussed below, Division II got it right reversing the trial court's decision.

Morrone's petition for review is baseless. There is no need for additional guidance where Division II properly applied a well-settled test that is by its very nature "non-mechanical" and based on the facts and equities of each individual case. The Court should deny review.

(2) <u>Division II Properly Applied the Law, Creating No Conflicts or Implicating Issues of Public Importance</u>

The Court should deny review because Division II applied the proper legal test that has been well-established for decades. Because Division II's unpublished decision creates no conflicts in law and does not raise any issue of public importance, review should be denied. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).<sup>5</sup> Although mere error correction is not a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b), Morrone takes various pot shots at Division II's ruling, trying to justify his grasp for review. Division II did not err.

(a) <u>Division II Did Not Err in Evaluating</u>
<u>Defenses to Morrone's Family Leave Act</u>
Claim

Morrone claims that the "easiest" and most "obvious" error was Division II's determination that NW Motorsport had a defense to the Family Leave Act claim because that Act was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> It is difficult to discern how an unpublished opinion with its effect described by GR 14.1 can meet the test of RAP 13.4(b)(4) in any event.

repealed absent a savings clause, therefore divesting Morrone of a cause of action. Pet. at 13-15; (citing op. at 16-19). For the first time in his petition for review, Morrone cites a savings clause the Legislature retroactively added under RCW 50A.05.125. Pet. at 14. Not only is this newly raised issue not worthy of this Court's review, but no error even occurred.

Morrone never cited RCW 50A.05.125 before because *it did not exist* when this case was before the trial court. Laws 2021 c 59 § 3. This new statute and its savings clause's effective date was April 16, 2021, which occurred *after* the trial court's final orders and *after* NW Motorsport filed its notice of appeal. CP 273-302. The very fact that the Legislature had to add this retroactive savings clause shows that at the time NW Motorsport moved to vacate the default, it had a strong defense to Morrone's claims and vacation should have been granted.

Division II did not err in so ruling, certainly considering Morrone never made this argument until now.<sup>6</sup>

And Morrone's concerns over the effect on the public are completely overblown, given the unique facts of this case where NW Motorsport's defense was valid at the time it raised it, given that there was no savings clause in place at the time. RCW 50A.05.125 is now effective for future and past cases. Review Division II's unpublished opinion is not necessary or warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) on an issue that has no larger public ramifications given the Legislature's actions.

(b) <u>Division II Properly Applied the Law on</u> <u>Prima Facie Defenses in a CR 60(b)(1)</u> <u>Motion</u>

Morrone also inflates Division II's use of the phrase "strong prima facie" defenses, claiming it erred by applying

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Morrone moved to publish, but he did not move for reconsideration in Division I. He has waived this argument that he never raised until now. *E.g.*, *In re Disability Proceeding Against Diamondstone*, 153 Wn.2d 430, 442, 105 P.3d 1 (2005) (Supreme Court will not review issues raised "for the first time in this court"); RAP 2.5(a).

some "new" standard of review. Pet. at 15-18. Division II did not err, create conflicts, or establish any new precedent in its unpublished decision — it merely recognized (in what essentially amounts to *dicta*) that some of NW Motorsport's many proffered defenses appeared stronger than others. Op. at 13 ("NWMS raises stronger arguments on some defenses than others").

Division II properly recognized that NW Motorsport presented numerous possible defenses to Morrone's claims. On the contractual claims, where Morrone sought certain litigation bonuses, the employment contract, which Morrone drafted himself, stated in unambiguous terms that "Employee shall be entitled to salary and benefits during the three-year Contract Term regardless of whether Employee's employment is terminated...unless Employee resigns his position before the end of the Contract Term." CP 135. The term for a litigation bonus was listed in a section of the contract titled "Compensation and Benefits." CP 136-37. Morrone resigned

from his employment *before* the contract term ended. Thus, NW Motorsport had a *prima facie* defense to his claims for not paying this bonus, part of his salary and benefits under the contract.

At the very least, NW Motorsport presented enough to show a disputed question of fact existed regarding how his resignation affected his entitlement to benefits under the contract. *See*, *e.g.*, *Martinez v. Miller Indus.*, Inc., 94 Wn. App. 935, 943, 974 P.2d 1261 (1999) ("Determining a contractual term's meaning involves a question of fact and examination of objective manifestations of the parties' intent.").

Additionally, NW Motorsport showed strong defenses to the contractual damages Morrone recovered in default. It has long been established that a "prima facie defense that the damage award was excessive" is enough to vacate default. *Norton v. Brown*, 99 Wn. App. 118, 124, 992 P.2d 1019 (1999), *amended*, 3 P.3d 207 (2000). The bonus provision explicitly excluded any court-awarded attorney fees and made no

provision for interest, CP 136-37, yet Morrone requested and recovered both as part of his default. This, including the express bar to recovery of attorney fees, gave NW Motorsport a defense to Morrone's damages. CP 136-37.

On top of this defense, Morrone also received liquidated ("double") damages under RCW 49.52 for an alleged willful withholding of wages. But as this Court has reiterated, a withholding of wages is not willful where there is a *bona fide* dispute whether the wages must be paid. *Champagne v. Thurston County*, 163 Wn.2d 69, 81, 178 P.3d 936 (2008). Here, again, the plain language of the employment contract raised a *bona fide* question over whether Morrone was owed the bonus money related to the Sunset litigation at all. Thus, Division II properly determined that NW Motorsport had a valid defense to willful withholding and the amount of damages.

The defense to Morrone's extracontractual claims for retaliation and wrongful discharge essentially starts and ends

with the fact that he was not discharged, but voluntarily resigned, praising the company for its vision on his way out the door to a new job with Holland America. CP 264. He took that job because of its many apparent advantages, compared to NW Motorsport. These advantages included a more stable company compared to NW Motorsport which sold shortly after he left, less stress from litigation (Morrone previously stated that the stress he had to endure defending a trial as NW Motorsport's general counsel in Pasco "cannot be overstated" CP 5-7), and a potentially more desirable Seattle-based location.

NW Motorsport presented evidence, including emails, communications, and declarations showing that he was not discharged, constructively or otherwise. CP 243, 249, 264. And contrary to his position on appeal that he subjectively believed working conditions to be intolerable, even during the time he claims was the worst while working at NW Motorsport, when he returned from bereavement leave, he "thank[ed]" the

company for the time away and wrote that he was "look[ing] forward" to getting back to work. *Id*.

This evidence is documented in the record and negates his claims. A plaintiff cannot prove constructive discharge when he or she left for some other reason (like taking a more desirable job). *Barnett v. Sequim Valley Ranch, LLC*, 174 Wn. App. 475, 489, 302 P.3d 500 (2013) (to prove constructive discharge an employee must show that he or she "quit because of the [intolerable] conditions and not for any other reason").<sup>7</sup> Instead, Morrone based all his claims on his own alleged

an opportunity to address any intolerable condition, which he never even suggested he did. *See Tidwell v. Meyer's Bakeries, Inc.*, 93 F.3d 490, 494 (8th Cir. 1996) ("An employee who quits without giving his employer a reasonable chance to work out a problem has not been constructively discharged.") *Poland v. Chertoff*, 494 F.3d 1174, 1184 (9th Cir. 2007) ("We set the bar high for a claim of constructive discharge because federal antidiscrimination policies are better served when the employee and employer attack discrimination within their existing employment relationship, rather than when the employee walks away and then later litigates whether his employment situation was intolerable."). Instead, he resigned, praising management for their "good vision" for the company on his exit. CP 264.

"subjective belief that he had no choice but to resign," which is "irrelevant" because wrongful discharge is an objective claim.

Id. (emphasis added).

Moreover. Morrone's claims for discrimination, retaliation, and wrongful termination all require a detailed and fact-specific showing to afford Morrone any recovery. Such claims necessarily turn on testimony and inferences drawn from that testimony, and ultimate decisions are routinely left to a jury to weigh that testimony. Mikkelsen v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Kittitas County, 189 Wn.2d 516, 536, 404 P.3d 464 (2017); Davis v. W. One Auto. Grp., 140 Wn. App. 449, 456-61, 166 P.3d 807 (2007) (reversing summary judgment because disputed questions involving employment conditions. retaliation, and wrongful discharge are fact questions for a jury). Morrone presented no such evidence, merely his own unsupported allegations that discrimination or retaliation occurred. On the other hand, as set forth above, NW Motorsport produced documentary evidence supporting the

reason that Morrone's employment truly ended – voluntary separation to pursue a more desirable job.

Finally, the duty to mitigate also extends to claims where a plaintiff seeks damages in connection with claims for discrimination, retaliation, wrongful discharge, and family leave. *Bernsen v. Big Bend Elec. Co-op., Inc.*, 68 Wn. App. 427, 433, 842 P.2d 1047 (1993) ("Failure to mitigate damages is an affirmative defense under CR 8(c)."); WPI 330.83. NW Motorsport raised substantial questions about the efforts that Morrone undertook to mitigate his alleged damages, and how much he suffered from them at all where he potentially had many reasons for taking a job at Holland America – a large, stable company close to his Mercer Island home where he would not be asked to endure the stress of litigation.

In sum, Division II properly weighed these defenses, and balanced them against the other factors for vacation under CR 60(b)(1). Division II's comments about the strength of each individual defense is irrelevant. It is well-established that a

court considering such a motion "need only determine whether the defendant is able to demonstrate any set of circumstances that would, if believed, entitle the defendant to relief." VanderStoep v. Guthrie, 200 Wn. App. 507, 519, 402 P.3d 883 (2017) (quotation omitted). "And the defendant's argument does not have to be particularly strong or conclusive; in some circumstances, even a tenuous defense may be sufficient to support a motion to vacate." *Id.* (quotation omitted). Essentially, the requirement to present a prima facie defense is a harmless error analysis, as it would be pointless to vacate a default judgment if there were no colorable defense. But where even a "tenuous" defense exists over disputed factual and legal questions, cases should be resolved on their merits. White, 73 Wn.2d at 353.

Division II applied these settled principles. Review is not warranted. RAP 13.4(b).

(c) <u>Division II Did Not Err by "Ignoring CR</u> 60's Affidavit Requirement"

Morrone claims that Division II "ignored CR 60's affidavit requirements." Pet. at 18-22. This is just not true. NW Motorsport documented its defenses with declarations and exhibits, including the employment contract itself. CP 135-38, 187-91, 198-204, 234-40, 242-68. The opinion expressly recognizes that both NW Motorsport's corporate officer, Don Fleming and its outside counsel, Sheryl Willert, submitted declarations documenting its defenses and the reasons it failed to appear. Op. at 9-10, 19.

But even if this were not the case, this Court has already rejected a similar argument that formal declarations are always required to vacate default in *Griggs*, 92 Wn.2d 576. There, the Court reversed an appellate decision that reinstated a default judgment for a perceived lack of evidence supporting the vacation factors. This Court held that while presenting evidence in sworn affidavits is the "better practice" and technically required by CR 60, detailed affidavits are not necessary to vacate a default where the facts can be inferred

from the rest of the court "file," based on the circumstances of the case. *Id.* at 583-84.

In *Griggs*, there was *no affidavit* in the file, but the Court still found sufficient grounds to vacate default because the moving party submitted a "memorandum of facts and law" at an earlier hearing detailing the evidence in favor of vacating default. *Id.* at 584. The Court explained that reversing default was necessary, even considering a technical violation of CR 60's evidentiary requirements, because the "the [civil] rules are to be construed to secure the just determination of every action." Id. at 583 (citing CR 1). Trial courts must not "operate in a vacuum" by confining themselves only to the facts neatly presented in sworn declarations attached to motions to vacate, which by their very nature should be brought as quickly as possible to mitigate prejudice. *Id*.

Here, NW Motorsport submitted declarations, exhibits, and evidence, and Willert further explained in oral argument and in memoranda of law where she owed a duty of candor to

the court under RPC 3.3 and had "the authority to speak for and bind the client in any legal proceedings." *Turner v. Stime*, 153 Wn. App. 581, 594, 222 P.3d 1243 (2009); RCW 2.44.010 (lawyer has authority to bind his or her client in any proceeding made in open court). Thus, there was more than enough evidence before the Court to grant vacation, and Division II committed no error finding as such. Review is not warranted. RAP 13.4(b).

# (d) No Other Ground for Review Exists

The rest of Monroe's baseless petition simply bemoans the fact that the trial court was overturned, consistent with the liberal policy that defaults must be set aside, and he claims that this issue is of substantial importance. Pet. at 22-29. Division II did not err, it applied well settled standards of review and legal tests, as described above. NW Motorsport will not repeat those arguments except to reiterate that this unpublished case will have *zero effect* beyond these two litigants. The unique facts, equities, and factors that apply to each individual motion

under CR 60(b)(1) simply do not make for a Supreme Court case. Certainly not here, where Division II properly followed this Court's well-established precedents. Review should be denied.

#### D. CONCLUSION

For these reasons the Court should deny review. Division II properly determined that this case should be tried on its merits rather than through a hurried default obtained by mistake that NW Motorsport *immediately* moved to vacate showing many *prima facie* defenses. In doing so, it created no conflicts or raised any issues with an effect beyond this case, let alone on the public at large.

This document contains 4,926 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.